RECEIVED

Jun 12 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
General Sessions Court
Heath P. Taylor, Circuit Court Judge

Case Nos.
2023-GS-32-02925A
2023-GS-32-02926
2023-GS-32-01737
Appellate Case No.
2024-001522

The State of South Carolina,

Respondent,

v.

Shanya McKnight,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Alissa L. Wilson
ALW Law, LLC
1720 Main Street, Suite 301
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 855-1877
South Carolina Bar Number 101602

Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err in finding that the amendment to the indictment for infliction of great bodily injury upon a child did not change the nature of the offense and in failing to grant a continuance based upon the amended indictment?
2. Did the trial court err in failing to grant a directed verdict as the State failed to prove all the elements of infliction of great bodily injury upon a child?
3. Did the trial court err in failing to grant a directed verdict as to the indictment for unlawful conduct against a child – Minor Child 2?
4. Did the trial court err in charging the jury on proximate cause?
5. Was the cumulative effect of the trial court's errors, in combination, so prejudicial as to deny appellant a fair trial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Shayna McKnight, was indicted by the Lexington County grand jury on charges of infliction of great bodily injury upon a child, and two counts of unlawful conduct towards a child. R. pp 1-8 [Indictments]. She was tried before a jury on August 5th through 8th, 2024, in the Lexington County General Sessions Court, with Judge Heath Taylor presiding. R. p. 23. The jury returned a verdict of guilt with respect to all counts. R. pp. 432-433. At sentencing, Judge Taylor sentenced Appellant to 12 years on the count of infliction of great bodily injury upon a child, and five years each on the unlawful neglect counts to run concurrent. R. pp, 9-17 [Sentencing sheets]; R. p. 451. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The charges stem from events that occurred on March 11, 2022, at Windsor Academy, which is a daycare facility in Lexington, South Carolina. Minor Child 1 and Minor Child 2 were two infants who attended Windsor Academy. Minor Child 1's left tibia was fractured on the day in question.

The mother of Minor Child 1, Erika Garcia, testified that on the morning of March 11, 2022, she dropped her daughter off at Windsor Academy as usual. R. p. 68. The Appellant, Shayna McKnight, was in charge of the infant classroom in which Minor Child 1 was placed. R. p. 70.

Ms. Garcia testified that at 7:45 am, when she dropped off Minor Child 1, she seemed "normal" and at that point in time she was able to crawl, stand up, and take steps while holding on to something. R. p. 71.

Around 10:30-11:00 a.m. that morning, Ms. Garcia received a call from Bess, the daycare director, telling her Minor Child 1 was not putting weight on her leg. R. p. 76. Ms. Garcia left work around 12:30 p.m. to pick up her daughter. When she got to the daycare, she witnessed her daughter crying, not drinking her bottle, and unable to move her arms and legs. R. pp. 78-79. Ms. Garcia took Minor Child 1 to Lexington Urgent Care where she received a cast on her left leg.

Dr. Elizabeth Renwick testified that she was working at Lexington Urgent Care on March 11, 2022. R. p. 197. Dr. Renwick's diagnosis of Minor Child 1 was

a displaced spiral fracture of the shaft of the left tibia. R. p. 200. Dr. Renwick testified that a spiral fracture is caused by “a twisting, rotational force.” R. pp. 201-202.

Dr. Renwick applied a splint to the lower leg to stabilize the fracture after doing an x-ray. Minor Child 1 was transferred to Prisma Health to be evaluated by a pediatric specialist because there was suspicion of child abuse. R. pp. 203-203.

According to Dr. Renwick’s testimony, Prisma Health applied a non-walking cast to keep the leg in the proper position. This cast is not designed to bear weight and is kept on for weeks while the bone heals. During the time the cast is on, Dr. Renwick testified that the child would not crawl normally or learn to walk. R. pp. 203-204.

The State played Dr. Renwick various videos showing different actions Appellant took with Minor Child 1. Dr. Renwick commented on these videos, including the way Minor Child 1 was lifted, as it put excessive force on the upper extremities potentially causing radial head subluxation, or bruising. R. p. 207.

Dr. Renwick testified regarding swaddling stating that “[s]waddling is when you wrap a blanket tightly around an infant to keep their arms in control, in one place.” R. p. 209. Dr. Renwick testified that you only swaddle an infant until two months old; before they can turn over by themselves. Once they can roll over, there is a risk for suffocation or sudden infant death syndrome. R. p. 210.

Dr. Renwick also testified that too much bouncing can cause shaken baby syndrome, face swaddling is not medically safe, and that full body weight born by the ankles poses a risk for injury and fracture. R. pp. 210-213.

The State played Dr. Renwick videos of Minor Child 2, showing various actions taken by the Appellant with Minor Child 2, including swaddling him and placing him on his stomach to sleep and Appellant lifting him by one arm. Dr. Renwick testified that children less than 12 months should be placed on their backs to sleep, and not swaddled and placed on their stomachs, as they would be unable to lift up or roll over if they needed air. She testified that to place a child on its stomach to sleep was considered “unsafe sleep.” She further testified that it was too much force on a child to lift him by the arms. R. pp. 221-224.

On cross-examination, Dr. Renwick testified that a non-displaced fracture does not have to be reset, and the average cast time is six to eight weeks. R. p. 229. Dr. Renwick testified that Minor Child 1 healed appropriately, and her treatment was not unusual. She further testified that she did not see any injuries to either child caused by swaddling, and that the guidelines regarding when to swaddle are “general.” R. pp. 231-233.

Dr. Renwick agreed with Appellant that once a child was walking this type of fracture was common. After watching a video in which another daycare worker changed Minor Child 1’s diaper, Dr. Renwick admitted that it was possible that the

worker's abdomen was pressing on the leg, and that the leg could turn. She further admitted that the fracture could have become more displaced by the actions of the other daycare worker. R. pp. 237-242.

Appellant raised the issue of Minor Child 1 being lowered into the crib by one leg with Dr. Renwick. She admitted that she did not know where Appellant's right hand was, and if she was holding the baby with two hands, one on the leg and the other underneath the chest, it would change her opinion about the leg and the manner in which it was fractured. R. pp. 243-246.

Dr. Renwick also admitted that she does not know when the fracture happened. Just that there was a spiral fracture. R. pp. 245-246.

United States Secret Service Agent Michael Phipps testified on behalf of the State as an expert in the field of digital evidence and digital evidence extractions. Phipps examined the DVR surveillance system seized from Windsor Academy. R. pp. 100-193.

The State showed video surveillance through Agent Phipps regarding the various activities that day at the daycare. Specifically, the State focused on the Appellant and her interactions with Minor Child 1. R. pp. 100-162.

The State played video showing Minor Child 1 being picked up by one arm by Appellant, Minor Child 1's head being pushed down by Appellant, Appellant face

swaddling Minor Child 1, and lowering Minor Child 1 into the crib by her ankles. R. pp. 119-128.

Through cross-examination, Agent Phipps testified the Appellant did use two hands when putting Minor Child 1 into the crib. "I'm saying the left hand was supporting the child in some way, the upper body, and then the right hand was supporting the leg." R. p. 184. Agent Phipps also states Appellant placed Minor Child 1 in the crib; she did not drop her into the crib. R. p. 184. The statements of Agent Phipps, acknowledging that Appellant did use two hands to lower the child into the crib, call Dr. Renwick's testimony into question, as she testified that if Appellant had used two hands, her opinion would change regarding the leg and the manner in which it was fractured.

Donna Bonner-Reed testified on behalf of the State. R. pp. 252-278. Ms. Bonner-Reed was also working in the infant room at Windsor Academy on the day in question. R. p. 252. She testified that she "heard Shayna say, I heard a pop. Did you hear a pop?" While Ms. Bonner-Reed and Appellant were looking at the child's leg, she stated further "I flipped her over by her leg. I heard a pop." R. pp. 258-259.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE AMENDMENT TO THE INDICTMENT FOR INFLECTION OF GREAT BODILY INJURY UPON A CHILD DID NOT CHANGE THE NATURE OF THE OFFENSE AND IN FAILING TO GRANT THE APPELLANT A CONTINUANCE.

On July 20, 2023, the State presented the case before a Grand Jury, which indicted Shayna McKnight for the charges of Infliction of Great Bodily Injury upon a Child, and Unlawful Neglect of a Child for Minor Child 2. On June 3, 2024, the State presented the case before a Grand Jury, which indicted the appellant for the charge of Unlawful Neglect of a Child for Minor Child 1. The indictment for Infliction of Great Bodily Injury upon a Child stated:

Shayna Nicole McKnight did in Lexington County, South Carolina on or upon March 11th, 2022, **knowingly, willfully**, and unlawfully inflict great bodily injury upon a child resulting in bodily injury which creates a substantial risk of death or which causes serious or permanent disfigurement or protracted loss or impairment or impairment of function of any bodily member or organ, to-wit: Did commit an act of physical assault, force or abuse upon [Minor Child 1], being a child, an infant less than one year of age, resulting in the fracture of the left leg (tibula) and resulting in protracted impairment of the bodily member as a result of aforesaid injury in violation of Code 16-3-95(A) of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976 amended.

R. pp. 1-8 [Indictments], R. pp. 25-26. (Emphasis added).

The morning of August 5, 2024, the State reconvened the Grand Jury to amend the indictment to remove the words “knowingly” and “willfully.” R. pp. 3-4 [Amended Indictment]. The Appellant objected to the removal of this language,

stating that it caused a surprise, as the change to the indictment removed the issue of intent from the charge. R. p. 26. The objection was made by trial counsel prior to the jury being sworn, which is procedurally proper. R. pp. 25-28, S.C. Code §17-19-90; *State v. Gentry*, 363 S.C. 93, 101, 610 S.E.2d 494, 499 (2005).

The Court permitted the amendment pursuant to S.C. Code 17-19-100, which permits an amendment to an indictment if it does not change the nature of the offense. The Court stated, “I don’t think deleting willfully changes the nature of the offense.” R. p. 28.

The Supreme Court of South Carolina issued the opinion in *State v. Dent* on July 16, 2025. The following is the very first sentence in the opinion:

Indictments matter. In criminal trials where the weight of the government comes to bear against an individual citizen, indictments are a foundational part of that citizen’s constitutional right to due process; they put the citizen on formal notice of the charges against him **and the theories the government intends to present at trial to show the citizen violated the law, thereby allowing the citizen to prepare a defense.** (Emphasis added).

Opinion No. 28289, Sup. Ct. Filed July 16, 2025.

The indictment is a notice document which puts “the defendant on notice of what he is called upon to answer, i.e., to apprise him of the elements of the offense and to allow him to decide whether to plead guilty or stand trial, and to enable the circuit court to know what judgement to pronounce if the defendant is convicted.” *State v. Means*, 383 S.C. 640, 646, 681 S.E.2d 1, 6-7 (2009), *quoting Evans v. State*,

363 S.C. 495, 508, 611 S.E.2d 510, 517 (2005). The indictment is also formal notice of the theories the government intends to present at trial, so the defendant can prepare a defense, as referenced in *Dent*.

An indictment may be amended if it does not change the nature of the offense; if the amended change is a lesser included offense of the original crime charged in the indictment; or if the defendant waives presentment to a grand jury and pleads guilty. *Means*, 383 S.C. at 646, 681 S.E.2d at 7, *see State v. Myers*, 313 S.C. 391, 393, 438 S.E.2d 236, 237 (1993). Courts have historically permitted amendments under §17-19-100 to correct a range of errors of form, including inserting the omitted name of a law enforcement agent serving as a witness (*State v. Batson*, 261 S.C. 128, 198 S.E.2d 517 (1973)); swapping out the named owner of stolen property with the name of the actual owner (*State v. Sweat*, 221 S.C. 270, 70 S.E.2d 234 (1952)); correcting the name of the listed victim (*State v. Jones*, 211 S.C. 319, 45 S.E.2d 29 (1947), *State v. McGill*, 191 S.C. 1, 3 S.E.2d 257 (1939)); and changing defective times and dates listed in the indictments (*State v. Richey*, 88 S.C. 239, 70 S.E. 729 (1911), *State v. May*, 45 S.C. 509, 23 S.E. 513 (1896), *Carrier v. State*, 895 S.E.2d 679 (S.C. 2023)).

Courts have not permitted amendments to the indictment when the amendment changes the nature of the offense, including reversing a conviction for possession with intent to distribute marijuana within the proximity of a school

because substituting a school for the church named in the original indictment was not a scrivener's error, but changed the nature of the offense charged (*State v. Lynch*, 344 S.C. 635, 641, 545 S.E.2d 511, 514 (2001)); reversing conviction where trial court allowed aggravating circumstances on a first-degree burglary indictment to be changed from entering at night to causing physical injury (*State v. Gentry*, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005), *Clair v. State*, 324 S.C. 144, 478 S.E.2d 54 (1996)); and affirming grant of post-conviction relief where defendant was indicted for trafficking in cocaine weighing more than 100 grams but less than 200 grams, and defense counsel consented to an amendment to an amount more than 200 grams (*Hopkins v. State*, 317 S.C. 7, 10, 451 S.E.2d 389 (1994)).

The sufficiency of an indictment is examined objectively, from a reasonable person standard, and not from the subjective viewpoint of a particular defendant. In South Carolina, an indictment “shall be deemed and judge sufficient and good in law which, in addition to allegations as to time and place, as required by law, charges the crime substantially in the language of the common law or of the statute prohibiting the crime or so plainly that the nature of the offense charged may be easily understood and, if the offense be a statutory offense, that the offense be alleged to be contrary to the statute in such case made and provided.” S.C. Code Ann. § 17-19-20; *Means*, 367 S.C. at 383-384, 626 S.E.2d at 354.

“In determining whether an indictment meets the sufficiency standard, the court must look at the indictment with a practical eye in view of all of the surrounding circumstances...” *Id.*, quoting *Gentry*, 363 S.C. at 103, 610 S.E.2d at 500). “All the surrounding circumstances must be weighed to make an accurate determination of whether the defendant was prejudiced by a lack of notice and an insufficient indictment.” *Id.*, see *State v. Gunn*, 313 S.C. 124, 130, 437 S.E.2d 75, 78 (1993); *State v. Evans*, 216 S.C. 328, 57 S.E.2d 756 (1950).

In the case at bar, removing the words “knowingly” and “willfully” from the indictment changes the elements of the offense. It eliminates intent on the part of the Appellant, which the State would have to prove beyond a reasonable doubt. The Appellant and her trial counsel prepared the case for trial based upon the original indictment, which was brought before a Grand Jury almost a year prior to the trial, which stated that Appellant did “...knowingly, willfully, and unlawfully inflict great bodily injury upon a child resulting in bodily injury...” When the State removed the intent language, the nature of the offense changed from an offense in which the State had to prove intent to an offense in which the State did not have to prove intent on the part of the Appellant in order for her to be found guilty.

The addition of the words knowingly and willfully into the language of the indictment does not charge the crime substantially in the language of the statute, as is required by S.C. Code Ann. § 17-19-20 and *Means*. 367 S.C. at 383-384, 626

S.E.2d at 354. The language of the statute, S.C. Code Ann. §16-3-95, does not include the words knowingly and willfully, and the addition of these words into the indictment was not just a superfluous error.

By including the words knowingly and willfully, the State introduced an intent element into the indictment. When the Court allowed the State to amend the indictment to remove that language, the Court changed the elements of the offense that the Appellant had been put on notice of, which was a critical change.

The original indictment facially charged a complete offense; however, when the State amended it the morning before trial and then presented evidence to convict the Appellant under a different theory than originally alleged in the indictment, the conviction of Appellant violated her due process rights.

The State used this information to its advantage, which prejudiced the Appellant. The State argued in closing:

But first and foremost, let me make clear that under the law of this state, she doesn't have to premeditate or plan out I'm going to break Minor Child 1's leg because I'm tired of Minor Child 1 crying and I'm just going to break her leg. That is not the law, that she has to plan it that she has to premeditate it, or anything else.

Under the law, intent is inferred from the circumstances of her actions. Whether or not she intended that to be the final result, whether or not she intended to use that much force is not the law. The law is did she carry out acts of aggression knowing as she carried out these acts of aggression what she's doing.

R. p. 387.

This charge shows the importance of the intent language, and how the Appellant was severely prejudiced by the removal of the words knowingly and willfully from her indictment on the morning of her trial. The State no longer had to prove she meant to break the leg.

In *State v. Ledford*, the defendant was charged with infliction of great bodily injury upon a child. 422 S.C. 244, 810 S.E.2d 868 (2018). The indictment stated Ledford “willfully and unlawfully inflict[ed] great bodily injury upon a child.” *Id.*, 422 S.C. at 247, 810 S.E.2d at 869. After the conclusion of the evidence, Ledford requested that the trial court use the following jury charge:

It is unlawful to inflict great bodily injury upon a child. To violate this statute the [S]tate is required to prove that [Ledford] acted wil[l]fully. To act wil[l]fully, the [S]tate is required to prove that [Ledford] knew his act would inflict great bodily injury upon a child. It is not sufficient that the [S]tate prove that he acted negligently, grossly negligent[ly] or reckless[ly] in his action. Such actions are not wil[l]ful as alleged in the indictment.

Id.

Ledford requested that the term “willfully” be included in the jury charge because the indictment alleged he “willfully” inflicted great bodily harm upon a child. The State objected, but the trial court allowed the jury charge with the exception of the last sentence. The State filed an immediate notice of appeal arguing that the inclusion of the jury charge heightened its burden of proof. The Supreme Court ultimately ruled that it was not an immediately appealable issue. *Id.*

The trial court in *Ledford* allowed the defendant to include a jury charge instructing that the jurors must find he acted with intent in committing the crime, even though the statute does not require intent. The court allowed him to do so because the indictment alleged he acted willfully, and the indictment is the document which puts the defendant on notice regarding the charges that he or she has to answer.

If the language in the indictment differs from the language in the statute under which the defendant is being charged, then the indictment is insufficient as it does not clearly advise the defendant of the elements of the offense, nor does it allow preparation of a viable defense. As the Supreme Court opined in *Dent*, “[t]he law does not mandate perfection in the drafting of indictments, but it does require fair notice of the charge against the accused.” *State v. Dent*, Sup. Ct. (Opinion No. 28289), p. 11. Here, the indictment contained intent elements that were not part of the statute itself. Using the indictment as the notice document, the Appellant prepared her case based upon the belief that in order for a conviction on the great bodily injury charge, she had to have knowingly and willfully inflicted the great bodily injury on the child. When the intent language was removed the morning of trial, the Appellant was rightfully surprised and not only objected to the amended indictment but also requested a continuance so that counsel would have time to re-prepare the case based on the removal of the intent language. The trial court denied counsel’s request, which was prejudicial to the Appellant and her preparation of her

case, and violated her right to due process under the United States and South Carolina Constitutions. R. pp. 25-28.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT A DIRECTED VERDICT AS THE STATE FAILED TO PROVE ALL THE ELEMENTS OF INFLICTION OF GREAT BODILY INJURY UPON A CHILD.

In order to obtain a conviction for the crime of infliction of great bodily injury upon a child, the State must prove the elements of the charge beyond a reasonable doubt.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-95(A) states “[I]t is unlawful to inflict great bodily injury upon a child.... Subsection (C) defines great bodily injury as “bodily injury which creates a substantial risk of death or which causes serious or permanent disfigurement, or protracted loss or impairment of the function of any bodily member or organ.”

Protracted means lasting a long time or made to last longer than necessary; drawn out or lengthened in time, extended in duration. *Cambridge Dictionary*, <https://dictionary.cambridge.org/dictionary/english/protracted>, *Dictionary.com*, <https://www.dictionary.com/browse/protracted>.

Appellant moved for a directed verdict arguing that the State failed to cover the necessary elements of count one – the State failed to show that the injury suffered by the child created a substantial risk of death, caused serious or permanent

disfigurement, or protracted loss or impairment of the function of any bodily member or organ. R. pp. 366-367.

The State presented no evidence regarding the tibia fracture that offered the injury created a substantial risk of death or caused serious or permanent disfigurement. The evidence that the State did offer in regard to the injury failed to show a protracted loss or impairment of the function of the leg, as the fracture was non-displaced and the bone did not have to be reset. Additionally, the defense argued that it was a normal 6-week cast, and not an injury rising to the level of a twenty-year sentence. R. p. 368.

III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT A DIRECTED VERDICT AS TO THE INDICTMENT FOR UNLAWFUL CONDUCT AGAINST A CHILD – MINOR CHILD 2

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