RECEIVED

Jun 16 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
The Honorable Heath P. Taylor, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-001522

THE STATE,

Appellant,

v.

SHAYNA MCKNIGHT,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

S.R. HUBBARD, III
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

205 E. Main St. Suite 309
Lexington, SC 29071
(803) 785-8352

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. McKnight was properly indicted.

McKnight argues the trial court erred by failing to grant a continuance at the start of trial after the Lexington County Grand Jury returned a superseding indictment for Infliction of Great Bodily Injury Upon a Child, but this issue is not preserved for review because McKnight never moved for a continuance below. Regardless, McKnight was properly indicted. This Court should affirm.

A. Standard of review.

The granting or denial of a motion for a continuance is within the sound discretion of the trial judge, and the appellate court shows great deference to trial judges in this matter. State v. Colden, 372 S.C. 428, 437, 641 S.E.2d 912, 917 (Ct. App. 2007).

B. Discussion.

McKnight argues the trial court erred by failing to grant a continuance at the start of trial after the Lexington County Grand Jury returned a superseding indictment for Infliction of Great Bodily Injury Upon a Child. This issue is not preserved for review because McKnight never moved for a continuance below.

The grand jury indicted McKnight in July 2023. This indictment charged a violation of S.C. Code Ann. §16-3-95, and alleged McKnight acted “knowingly and willfully.” R.p.1–2. Prior to trial, the grand jury returned a superseding indictment, removing the words “knowingly and willfully” but otherwise stating the charge in the language of the statute. McKnight objected, but failed to request any

relief. Rather, counsel stated only: “We note our objection for the record.” R.p.26. Accordingly, the issue whether the trial court erred by failing to grant a continuance is not preserved for review because this issue was not raised and ruled on by the trial court. See State v. Johnson, 439 S.C. 331, 338, 887 S.E.2d 127, 130 (2023).

Regardless, the indictment was proper. In both indictments, the statute is referenced by its code section and the elements of the crime are laid out, providing clear notice of the charged offense. See State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 102–03, 610 S.E.2d 494, 500 (2005) (“If the objection is timely made, the circuit court should judge the sufficiency of the indictment by determining whether (1) the offense is stated with sufficient certainty and particularity to enable the court to know what judgment to pronounce, and the defendant to know what he is called upon to answer and whether he may plead an acquittal or conviction thereon; and (2) whether it apprises the defendant of the elements of the offense that is intended to be charged.”). The superseding indictment was properly phrased in the language of the statute, which does not specify the intent required. See S.C. Code Ann. § 17-19-20 (“Every indictment shall be deemed and judged sufficient and good in law which, in addition to allegations as to time and place, as required by law, charges the crime substantially in the language of the common law or of the statute prohibiting the crime or so plainly that the nature of the offense charged may be easily understood and, if the offense be a statutory offense, that the offense be alleged to be contrary to the statute in such case made and provided.”). While the original indictment

included superfluous language alleging McKnight acted “knowingly and willfully,” the statute itself does not include any mens rea. The State prudently chose to remove that language in the superseding indictment.

The cases and statute McKnight cites regarding the amendment of indictments are not relevant here. Those cases involve the court amending a grand jury’s indictment on motion of the solicitor without subsequent action of the grand jury, which may raise constitutional concerns. They have nothing to do with a grand jury true billing a superseding indictment, and the rationale of those cases simply does not apply to these facts. The trial court had nothing to do with the grand jury’s decision to indict McKnight in 2024, and nothing to do with the language of the accusation. The court has no power to prevent the grand jury from indicting a person.

Further, both indictments allege sufficient facts to enable McKnight to prepare a defense. The State’s proof at trial stayed within the facts alleged in the indictment. Cf. State v. Dent, 446 S.C. 121, 919 S.E.2d 394 (2025). McKnight clearly was not surprised by any of the State’s factual allegations.

McKnight alleges she was prejudiced because the State, by removing the words “knowingly and willfully,” “chang[ed] the elements of the offense.” Brief of Appellant at 12. The State has no power to change the elements of an offense through allegations in an indictment, or to remove the issue of intent from the case. The intent required to commit a crime is set by the legislature, and it is up to the court to interpret the legislative intent when the statute is silent. United States v.

Clemons, 442 S.C. 670, 675, 901 S.E.2d 280, 283 (2024). McKnight had the same ability as the State to research the statute and case law and argue which mens rea the State was required to prove. McKnight made no attempt below to demonstrate how she was prejudiced by the superseding indictment.

That McKnight suffered no prejudice is further shown by the fact that she never raised the issue of mens rea during the charge conference and did not argue lack of mens rea to the jury. Rather, McKnight sought to discredit the State's witnesses and cast blame on another daycare worker, arguing the other worker could have broken Child 1's leg while changing her diaper. Defense counsel even agreed with the solicitor's statement of the elements of the crime in closing argument. R.p.409. Further, McKnight did not object to the court's standard instruction on criminal intent. R.p.421–22. The trial court did not charge the jury that it must find McKnight acted "knowingly and willfully." The trial court correctly charged the jury in the language of the statute, and McKnight explicitly stated he had no objection to the charge. R.p.430. This Court should affirm.

II. The trial court correctly refused to grant a directed verdict for Infliction of Great Bodily Injury Upon a Child.

The trial court correctly refused to grant a directed verdict for Infliction of Great Bodily Injury Upon a Child because the State presented evidence from which a reasonable juror could find McKnight guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. This Court should affirm.

A. Standard of review.

On appeal from the denial of a directed verdict, this Court views the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Pearson, 415 S.C. 463, 470, 783 S.E.2d 802, 806 (2016).

B. Discussion.

The trial court, when ruling on a directed verdict motion, views the evidence in the light most favorable to the State and must submit the case to the jury if there is any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused, or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced. Pearson, 415 S.C. at 473, 783 S.E.2d at 807. The evidence is sufficient where one reasonable juror could find guilt. State v. Bennett, 415 S.C. 232, 237, 781 S.E.2d 352, 354 (2016).

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-95 provides: “It is unlawful to inflict great bodily injury upon a child.” For purposes of this section, “great bodily injury” means bodily injury which creates a substantial risk of death or which causes serious or permanent disfigurement, or protracted loss or impairment of the function of any bodily member or organ.

The State presented video evidence that McKnight caused great bodily injury to Child 1. State's Exhibits #21-25, #51-52. Child 1 suffered a broken tibia, a major debilitating injury, particularly for a ten-month-old infant. Before the injury, Child 1 had been close to walking. Child 1's leg was immobilized in a cast, and she was unable to crawl for "around two months." R.p.88. Considering Child 1 had only been alive for ten months at the time of the injury, her injury and recovery met the statutory definition of "protracted loss or impairment of the function of any bodily member or organ" sufficient to allow a reasonable juror to find her guilty. This Court should affirm.

III. The trial court correctly refused to grant a directed verdict for Unlawful Conduct Towards a Child.

The trial court correctly refused to grant a directed verdict for Unlawful Conduct Towards a Child because the State presented evidence from which a reasonable juror could find McKnight guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. This Court should affirm.

A. Standard of review.

On appeal from the denial of a directed verdict, this Court views the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Pearson, 415 S.C. 463, 470, 783 S.E.2d 802, 806 (2016).

B. Discussion.

The trial court, when ruling on a directed verdict motion, views the evidence in the light most favorable to the State and must submit the case to the jury if there is any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused, or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced. Pearson, 415 S.C. at 473, 783 S.E.2d at 807. The evidence is sufficient where one reasonable juror could find guilt. State v. Bennett, 415 S.C. 232, 237, 781 S.E.2d 352, 354 (2016).

S.C. Code Ann. § 63-5-70 provides it is unlawful for a person who has charge or custody of a child or who is responsible for the welfare of a child to (1) place the child at unreasonable risk of harm affecting the child's life, physical or mental health, or safety; or to (2) do or cause to be done unlawfully or maliciously any

bodily harm to the child so that the life or health of the child is endangered or likely to be endangered.

The evidence of Unlawful Conduct Towards a Child was roughly the same for Child 1 and Child 2. The State presented evidence that McKnight swaddled Child 2 in a blanket and placed him face down in a crib for nearly two hours. R.p.221, 359–60; State’s Exhibit #35. Dr. Elizabeth Renwick opined it was unsafe to swaddle children older than two months old due to the risk that they could roll over onto their stomach and suffocate. McKnight not only swaddled Child 2 improperly, she placed him face down in a crib for nearly two hours, conduct which a reasonable jury could find placed Child 2 at an unreasonable risk of harm. Likewise, McKnight wrapped Child 1’s blanket around her mouth while Child 1 had a pacifier in, conduct which Dr. Renwick testified could result in suffocation or aspiration. R.p.211. Further, Dr. Renwick testified it was dangerous for McKnight to lift an infant from their crib by one arm because this could result in serious injury to the arm. R.p.224. McKnight abused both Child 1 and Child 2 in this way. A reasonable juror could conclude McKnight’s conduct placed Child 1 and Child 2 at an unreasonable risk of harm.

McKnight argues on appeal that evidence that McKnight forcefully picked up Child 2 by one arm constituted a “material variance” from the indictment. McKnight did not argue below that there was a material variance from the indictment, and the trial court never ruled on this issue. Thus this argument is not preserved for review. Regardless, this evidence was presented in addition to the

evidence that McKnight improperly swaddled Child 2's full body and placed him face down in his crib, conduct that was alleged in the indictment and proved by video evidence. McKnight was not prejudiced. This Court should affirm.

IV. The trial court properly charged the law of proximate cause.

The trial court correctly charged the law of proximate cause because the issue of causation was raised by McKnight during trial. This Court should affirm.

A. Standard of review.

An appellate court will not reverse the trial judge's decision regarding a jury charge absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Marin, 415 S.C. 475, 482, 783 S.E.2d 808, 812 (2016).

B. Discussion.

The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial. Marin, 415 S.C. at 482, 783 S.E.2d at 812. In reviewing jury charges for error, the appellate court must consider the court's charge as a whole in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial. Id. A request to charge a correct statement of the law on an issue raised by the indictment and the evidence presented at trial should not be refused. State v. Brandt, 393 S.C. 526, 549, 713 S.E.2d 591, 603 (2011). If there is any evidence to support a charge, the trial court should grant the request. Id.

McKnight objected to a charge on proximate cause, arguing it would be confusing because McKnight had no codefendants. The trial court correctly pointed out that defense counsel raised the issue through questioning by suggesting another daycare worker could have broken Child 1's leg while changing her diaper after the State alleged the injury had already occurred. R.p.382, 236–41. Defense counsel even suggested the diaper change could have “contributed” to the broken leg.

R.p.239. Thus defense counsel placed the issue of causation directly before the jury, raising the need for the trial court to correctly explain the law to the jury.

The charge was a correct statement of law. See State v. Dantonio, 376 S.C. 594, 605, 658 S.E.2d 337, 343 (Ct. App. 2008). McKnight did not seriously contest the substantive correctness of the charge, asking the Court to clarify that “if they determine there may be proximate cause, it still has to be beyond a reasonable doubt that the injury occurred.” R.p.384. At the conclusion of the charge, counsel stated he had no objection.

McKnight argues the charge was somehow improper in a criminal case because the propriety of the charge has only been addressed by the appellate courts in homicide cases. But she fails to offer any logical reason why the charge is inapplicable in a non-homicide case. And again, McKnight did not make this argument below. Because the issue of causation was squarely before the jury, the trial court correctly instructed the jury on the applicable law. This Court should affirm.

V. This Court should not reverse pursuant to the cumulative error doctrine.

There was no error committed in this case, much less cumulative error. $0 + 0 = 0$. This Court should affirm.

CONCLUSION